RECEIVED

Jul 19 2022

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2021-000967

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Jaden Imarion Gary.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
Bar No. 72555
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
(803) 445-1333
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:

Ambree M. Muller
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jaden Gary was indicted by the Spartanburg County grand jury for Burglary 1st degree, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and grand larceny during its September 2019 term. Indictment Nos. 2019-GS-42-5573 and 2019-GS-42-5574. He was tried before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury between August 31 and September 1, 2021. Gary was represented by Joshua Schultz. The State was represented by Spenser Smith. Gary was convicted and sentenced to 20 years in prison.

This appeal timely follows.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury with Burglary 2nd degree when there was sufficient evidence at trial to support the jury charge and when Gary's defense was that he did not know anyone lived at the incident location.
- II. The trial court erred in not disavowing the solicitor's argument during sentencing that Gary should not receive a minimum sentence in this case, despite having no criminal record, because he exercised his Constitutional right to a jury trial, and by imposing an additional 5 year "trial tax" because Gary did not accept the State's plea offer.

RELEVANT FACTS

Jaden Gary, who was then 17 years old, ROA 35, and his two co-defendants entered into Jason Williams's residence on or about July 22, 2019 in the Startex community of Spartanburg County when Mr. Williams was not there. Gary's co-

defendants were Tyquez McKinney and Zion Miller. ROA 170. Multiple weapons were stolen from Mr. Williams who is a military veteran. ROA 121. This was the second time Mr. Williams's residence had been broken into. ROA 107. After the first incident, Mr. Williams had cameras installed around the property which provided visual evidence that Gary was one of the intruders. ROA 107. Jaden's biological father had been murdered shortly before these events. ROA 70. He had no prior criminal record. ROA 147-48, 157-158.

An officer with the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office, Officer Trevor Shue, was able to identify Jaden Gary from the video obtained from Mr. Williams's camera. ROA 145-46. He testified he recognized Gary from an earlier traffic stop incident that occurred earlier but did not result in any criminal charges. ROA 149. In the video, Gary could be seen carrying a firearm. ROA 156. Without objection, Gary's statement to law enforcement, wherein he explained that he entered the house but believed no one lived there, was moved into evidence. ROA 180.

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury with Burglary 2rd degree when there was sufficient evidence at trial to support the jury charge and when Gary's defense was that he did not know anyone lived at the incident location.**

Gary's defense at trial was that he did not realize anyone actually resided at the house he and his co-defendants entered. In his statement to law enforcement, which was entered into evidence, Gary indicated that a girl had informed him that a man was moving out of a house and that he had left a number of guns. ROA 282. On cross-examination, defense counsel additionally elicited facts to support that defense.

Q: All right. Now, in, in the back of your house you had—you noted that you had what is known as an elevated porch?

A: Uh-huh (affirmative).

Q: Is that covered in kudzu and vines?

A: No.

Q: No, it's not?

A: The porch itself is not, no.

Q: Okay. What about the back of your home?

A: There is some vegetation, some trees boarding the side of the property but not—it's clearly a house, a house back there.

Q: Could you—approaching your, your house from not Church Street, there's, there's—you're at the corner of --?

A: I think it's Elm and Church, yes...

Q: Look—looking at your house not from Church but from Elm, could a, a reasonable person suspect that—that that was not a house or not?

A: No, it's clearly a house.

Q: Okay. I understand that but can you—I guess from Elm Street, from the back of the residence, could you—could a reasonable person suspect, because of all the foliage and all the vines and all the trees and everything like that, could they see—could, could a person clearly see your house?

ROA 129, l. 10- 130, l. 14.

Q: Okay. Now, that—just looking at that, no offense, it looks messy.

A: Sure.

Q: Okay. There's garbage around. There's garbage on the floor, things like that.

A: Like I had previously stated, that was pushed against the door awaiting for me to take it to a recycling place.

ROA 133, ll. 4-8.

Q: Okay. And, again, kind of messy, right? No offense.

A: I—by definition, yes.

Q: Okay, and this is your bedroom, sir?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. And, again, kind of messy, right?

ROA, ll. 1-6.

The State realized the defense Gary was attempting to present to the jury because the solicitor responded to it on redirect examination:

Q: All right. Do you think, since it was asked multiple times, do you think it's remotely possible that somebody would not have known that this was a house?

A: Not—no.

Q: And that somebody not only that is in a house designed for somebody to live in but that somebody was actually living in it?

A: Yes, it was definitely clearly occupied and lived in since it was messy.

ROA 138, ll. 8-16.

In his statement to law enforcement, Gary informed the police that he did not realize anyone stayed at that location. Additional testimony was offered to substantiate the point. ROA 189-190; 192.

Q: Okay. Let me ask you this. He said a couple of times or Jaden said a couple of times in his statement that he wasn't sure if, if

anybody was staying there or somebody moved out. Do you remember that?

A: I do.

Q: Okay. Do you also remember him saying they must be moving out?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Do you also remember him saying oh, there was stuff everywhere?

A: I do.

Q: Okay. Do you also remember there were trash bags everywhere?

A: I remember him saying that. I don't recall seeing that in the photographs.

Q: Well, that's fine but do you recall him saying that?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. And he also said there was a bunch of junk everywhere, right?

A: He did. He said that...

Q: All right. What about in the, in the storage unit or the, the entry way into the kitchen? Sorry. Where there any pictures there of anybody?

A: Any pictures?

Q: Yeah, pictures of family or-- ?

A: I don't keep family pictures in my kitchen either.

Q: Right.

ROA 192, l. 20- 194, l. 5.

Again, the State acknowledged that it realized Gary's defense to the crime was that he believed the residence was abandoned. On redirect, the solicitor asked the officer, "Mr. Schultz asked you if you thought it'd be reasonable to think that this house was abandoned and then you said no. Why do you think it's not reasonable?" ROA 200, ll. 14-16. The officer then testified that he did not believe Gary when he said he thought the house was vacant or abandoned. ROA 201.

During the charge conference, defense counsel asked the judge to charge the jury with Burglary 2nd degree because that statute criminalizes going into a "structure" as opposed to a "dwelling." ROA 211-213.

The State opposed trial counsel's suggestion and, in doing so, once again highlighted that it understood Gary's defense to be that he believed the residence was abandoned:

Dwelling defines, in 16-11-10, defines many different ways. I don't know exactly what this structure would be that a person lives in that would not be a dwelling but—and, in this case, it is a dwelling. That's—the only evidence is that it is. There may be an argument that Mr. Gary perceived it to, to not be a dwelling and that it was abandoned.

ROA 214, ll. 3-9.

The judge denied Gary's request for the Burglary 2nd degree jury instruction.

ROA 216.

The trial court judge erred because Gary was entitled to a lesser-included jury instruction for Burglary 2rd degree based on the evidence adduced at trial that Gary did not realize someone actually lived in the residence.

S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-10 defines "dwelling house" as:

With respect to the crimes of burglary and arson and to all criminal offenses which are constituted or aggravated by being committed in a dwelling house, any house, outhouse, apartment, building, erection, shed or box in which there sleeps a proprietor, tenant, watchman, clerk, laborer or person who lodges there with a view to the protection of property shall be deemed a dwelling house, and of such a dwelling house or of any other dwelling house all houses, outhouses, buildings, sheds and erections which are within two hundred yards of it and are appurtenant to it or to the same establishment of which it is an appurtenance shall be deemed parcels.

S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-311, Burglary 1st degree states:

- (A) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein.
- (B) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a building without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein, and either:
 - (1) When in effecting entry or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, he or another participant in the crime:
 - (a) Is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or
 - (b) Causes physical injury to any person who is not a participant in the crime; or
 - (c) Uses or threatens the use of a dangerous instrument; or
 - (d) Displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm; or
 - (2) The burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary or housebreaking or a combination of both; or
 - (3) The entering or remaining occurs in the nighttime.

S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-312, Burglary 2nd degree states:

- (A) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein.
- (B) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a building without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein, and either:
 - (1) When, in effecting entry or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, he or another participant in the crime:
 - (a) Is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or
 - (b) Causes physical injury to any person who is not a participant in the crime; or
 - (c) Uses or threatens the use of a dangerous instrument; or
 - (d) Displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm; or
 - (2) The burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary or housebreaking or a combination of both; or
 - (3) The entering or remaining occurs in the nighttime.

Had the trial court judge instructed the jury with Burglary 2nd degree as trial counsel requested, the jury could have considered Gary's defense that he did not realize someone was currently residing at the incident location at the time of his entry into it. Instead, by failing to give that instruction, the trial court denied Gary's jury of the ability to consider the defense he presented at trial.

The prejudice was overwhelming. During closing arguments, it was clear that Gary's understanding of that structure as either a "dwelling" or a "building" was the key issue.

The State argued:

So, what I think, and I don't know what the defense says, they don't have to say anything, but what I think the defense is, I guess in this case, is that, when he entered he did not intend to commit a crime. So, I want to highlight evidence that I think supports the idea that, that he did intend to commit a crime, and the, the basis ultimately of Mr. Gary's saying he wasn't intent on committing a crime is that because Bethany, the white girl on Snapchat that he had met a few weeks before, had a picture of a gun. He asked if he could buy it. She said no but there's a, there's a house where the guy's just moved out and he's got a bunch of guns in there and you can just go and take them.

That is the basis of his belief that everything he's doing is, is on the up and up and that he's basically going to claim abandoned property. I think that's the only way that he can be found not guilty is if you believe that and these are the points that I think prove that that's not true."

ROA. 222, l. 10- 223, l. 3.

During his closing argument, Gary once again informed the jury of his defense to these charges. His lawyer argued to the jury, "[w]hen these kids went in there, oh my God, this, this is probably abandoned just [as] that person had said." ROA 235, ll.12-13.

And then:

But it could be, I, I believe, and, and this is why we have ya'll here, it could be a reasonable assumption to make that this house was indeed abandoned. Somebody was moving out. And when you go back in your jury deliberation room, and you listen to the statement that my client said, and I'm, I'm quoting verbatim here, my notes, at least what I heard, "somebody moved out, they must be moving out, stuff everywhere, trash bags, a whole bunch of junk.

Tr. 235, l. 25- p. 236, l. 7.

That's a reasonable doubt number one that this house is not a dwelling, which is what they have to prove in order to find my client guilty of burglary first. So there's that.

ROA 236, ll. 12-15. “These kids thought this was an abandoned house, okay, and you can see why they would think that.” ROA 237, ll. 11-12.

What I’m asking you to consider this is that they did not know anybody was living in the house. If they did they probably wouldn’t have gone over there. There was a lot of trash bags. There was a lot of garbage. They didn’t know it was a dwelling and you have to find my—that it was a dwelling first. You have to find that.

Additionally, a conviction for Burglary 2nd degree, under the facts of this case, would have resulted in a punishment of not greater than 15 years. *See S.C. Code Ann.* §16-11-312 (2) with parole-eligibility after serving one-third of his sentence.

“The trial court is required to charge a jury on a lesser-included offense if there is any evidence from which it could be inferred the lesser, rather than the greater, offense was committed.” *State v. Williams*, 427 S.C. 148, 156, 829 S.E.2d 702, 706 (2019) (quoting *Suber v. State*, 371 S.C. 554, 559, 640 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2007)). In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser-included offense, this Court views the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant. *Id.* Second degree burglary is a lesser-included offense of first-degree burglary. *State v. Goldenbaum*, 294 S.C. 455, 457, 365 S.E.2d 731, 732 (1988). There is no question but that Gary's defense at trial was that he believed the building he entered was abandoned; the defense argued it and the solicitor argued against it. Gary's statement was entered into evidence and both defense counsel and the solicitor elicited testimony regarding the defense. The trial court judge erred in not charging the jury with the jury instruction that would have given effect to Gary's defense because evidence in the record supported giving the charge. Failing to do so denied Gary's right to due process

because it resulted in the jury's being unable to consider his defense. The judge's failure to give the instruction is also contrary to well-established South Carolina state law.

Respectfully, this Court should reverse Gary's case and remand for a new trial.

II. The trial court erred in not disavowing the solicitor's argument during sentencing that Gary should not receive a minimum sentence in this case, despite having no criminal record, because he exercised his Constitutional right to a jury trial, and by imposing an additional 5 year "trial tax" because Gary did not accept the State's plea offer.

Jaden Gary had no criminal record prior to these events. At the time he and his co-defendants entered Mr. Williams's house, Gary had just recently lost his father to murder. Gary was 17 years old. No one was home when Gary and his co-defendants entered and stole Mr. Williams's firearms. Despite this, the solicitor argued to the trial court that Gary should not receive a minimum sentence because he exercised his right to trial.

SOLICITOR SMITH: Your Honor, Mr. Williams had to go back to work and obviously this is the second time we've tried this case. He did state he wanted Your Honor and Mr. Gary to know that he believes he's lucky that he wasn't home cause he thinks Mr. Gary might be getting a life sentence but in a, in a different way and possibly all three of the young men that were involved.

He asks Your Honor to impose the maximum sentence because Mr. Gary had a chance to do the right thing and to plead, and instead he chose to keep doing the wrong thing.

ROA 275, l. 20- 276, l. 4.

The solicitor again argued Gary should be punished for exercising his right to a jury trial:

... I don't think that the minimum sentence is appropriate because he did not admit responsibility. Although he did it to the investigator, made the State and Mr. Williams go through basically the last trial, we were one witness away from finishing, two different trials on a case where he confessed and is caught on video.

So, he's not accepted responsibility. He could not just admit what he had done and take punishment.

So, we do not think that the minimum sentence is appropriate.

ROA 277, l. 20- 278, l. 5.

The judge did not respond and admonish the solicitor that imposing a "trial tax" due to a defendant's exercise of his Constitutional right to a jury trial was unconstitutional. Instead, it appears from his silence and his sentencing Gary to an additional 5 years over the plea offer that he acquiesced in the State's request.

"In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State... U.S. Const. amend. VI. When a trial judge considers the fact that the defendant exercised his or her constitutional right to a jury trial as a factor in sentencing the defendant, it is an abuse of discretion. *See Davis v. State*, 336 S.C. 329, 520 S.E.2d 801 (1999) (holding counsel was ineffective in failing to object when the trial judge indicated the reason he sentenced Davis more harshly than two similarly-situated offenders who, unlike Davis, had pled guilty was because those offenders admitted their guilt); *State v. Hazel*, 317 S.C. 368, 453 S.E.2d 879 (1995) (holding the trial judge abused his discretion when the judge considered the fact that Hazel did not plead guilty in declining to grant Hazel's request for

sentencing under the Youthful Offender Act); *State v. Follin*, 352 S.C. 235, 257-58, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824 (Ct. App. 2002) (“We caution the Bench that a trial judge abuses his or her discretion in sentencing when the judge considers the fact that the defendant exercises the right to a jury trial.”). *See also State v. Brouwer*, 346 S.C. 375, 388, 550 S.E.2d 915, 922 (Ct. App. 2001) (remand for a new sentencing hearing pursuant to *Hazel, supra*, stating, “Although the [trial judge] herein also stated it had never, and never would, ‘punish someone for exercising their right to a jury trial,’ we believe the mere disavowal of wrongful intent cannot remove the taint inherent in the [trial judge’s] commentary, especially since the record fails to reflect an otherwise appropriate basis for Brouwer’s disparate sentence.”).

In this case, the State made it clear it had offered Gary a 15-year sentence if he pleaded guilty. ROA 277. Then, at sentencing after Gary exercised its right to a trial, it demanded a longer sentence to punish Gary for exercising that right. The Court acquiesced in the State’s demand and sentenced Gary to 20 years. Respectfully, the trial court judge abused his discretion in imposing an additional 5 years over the earlier recommendation based on Gary’s exercise of his right to trial. Respectfully, this Court vacate Gary’s sentence and remand for resentencing.

CONCLUSION

This Court should reverse Carpenter’s convictions and remand for a new trial for Issue I, and it should remand for resentencing as to Issue 2.