**RECEIVED**

**Aug 08 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-000967

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JADEN IMARION GARY,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street  
3<sup>rd</sup> floor  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial judge correctly refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of burglary second degree because the jury could not find Appellant guilty of burglary second degree when the evidence did not support the structure being a building rather than a dwelling.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of burglary second degree when there was evidence upon which a jury could have found Appellant committed only burglary second degree. Appellant argues “had the trial court judge instructed the jury with burglary 2<sup>nd</sup> degree as trial counsel requested, the jury could have considered Gary’s defense that he did not realize someone was currently residing at the incident location at the time of his entry.” Appellant’s argument lacks merit because Appellant’s belief of whether a dwelling was abandoned is irrelevant because the residence is still a dwelling and not a building.

The jury was charged with burglary first degree. Section 16-11-311 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina defines burglary first degree as:

- (A) A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling and either
  1. When effecting entry or while in the dwelling or in immediate flight, he or another participant in the crime
    - a. Is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or
    - b. Uses or threatens the use of a dangerous instrument; or
    - c. Displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm; or
  2. The burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary or house breaking or a combination of both; or
  3. The entering or remaining occurs at nighttime.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (Supp. 2019). Section 16-11-312 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina provides:

- (A) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein.
- (B) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a building without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein, and either:
  - 1. When, in effecting entry or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, he or another participant in the crime:
    - a. Is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or
    - b. Causes physical injury to any person who is not a participant in the crime; or
    - c. Uses or threatens use of a dangerous instrument; or
    - d. Displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm; or
  - 2. The burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary or house breaking or a combination of both; or
  - 3. The entering or remaining occurs in the nighttime.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312 (Supp. 2019).

A trial judge's determination of what law should be charged is made from the evidence presented. State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976). "To justify charging the lesser crime, the evidence presented must allow a rational inference the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense." State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (2006). The trial court should refuse to charge the lesser included offense where there has been no evidence tending to show the defendant may have committed solely the lesser offense." Id. In order for the defendant to commit solely the lesser offense, the structure that Appellant entered would have had to be a building and not a dwelling.

In State v. White, White was charged with burglary first degree of a hotel room. State v. White, 349 S.C. 33, 562 S.E.2d 305 (2002). On appeal, White argued that the hotel was a building and not a dwelling so the jury could have found him guilty of the lesser included charges. Id. Our Supreme Court stated "Finally, we find the trial court properly held the motel room in question was being used as a dwelling under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-10 and 16-11-310 (dwelling is defined to include any building in which there sleeps a tenant or person who lodges there with a

view to the protection of property; for purposes of burglary statute, dwelling also means living quarters of a building used or normally used for sleeping, living, or lodging by a person).” Id. at 39, 307.

Whether or not Appellant believed the house was abandoned is irrelevant. Unlike Ohio’s Burglary statute that directly refers to “an occupied structure that is a permanent or temporary habitation of any person when any person other than an accomplice of the offender is present or likely to be present, with purpose to commit in the habitation any criminal offense.” Ohio Rev. Code Ann. §2911.12 (2011). The South Carolina statute does not directly refer to whether someone was in the dwelling or likely to be in the dwelling making defendant’s belief that a dwelling was abandoned irrelevant. The question is whether the resident, who resided in the dwelling, intended to return. A resident’s temporary absence does not convert a dwelling into a building. For example, in State v. Glenn, an arson case, the defendant asserted her mobile home was not a dwelling on the day it burned because she was in the process of moving out. State v. Glenn, 297 S.C. 29, 374 S.E.2d 671 (1988). The court held that since the defendant returned to the mobile home many times after her husband’s death to gather more possessions, specifically on the day the mobile home burned, that she had not vacated the mobile home because she had the intention of returning. Id. The court explained that when a dwelling’s habitational status is called into question by the occupier’s temporary absence, the test is whether the occupant has left with the intention to return. Id.

Burglary is a crime against property and not possession and therefore whether a building is a dwelling house turns on whether the occupant has left with the intention to return and the temporary absence of occupants will not prevent a residence from becoming the subject of burglary. State v. Davis, 422 S.C. 472, 812 S.E.2d 423 (Ct. App. 2018).

In State v. Evans, this Court considered whether a family's second home was a dwelling even though the homeowners only occasionally went there, had not slept there for three years, and used the home essentially "as a storage building." State v. Evans, 376 S.C. 421, 656 S.E.2d 782 (Ct. App. 2008). This Court held the evidence supported a finding that the house was a dwelling, emphasizing that the house was filled with property, the utilities were on, and the house was "ready to be lived in." Id. This Court explained that "Temporary absence from a 'dwelling' is irrelevant." Id., at 425, 656 S.E.2d at 784.

In this case, there is plenty of evidence that the structure was a dwelling and that Williams intended to return. Williams testified that he currently lived there and had been living there for the last three years. (R. 106). Williams refers to one of the rooms as his bedroom during his testimony. (R. 108) Similar to Evans, it is clear that Williams' residence is filled with property such as electronics, furniture, clothes, silverware, and the utilities were functioning. (R. 105-142). Brad Newton, the investigator working the case also testified at trial that it was clear that someone was currently living in the structure. (R. 165). There is plenty of evidence that the structure was a dwelling because Williams' was clearly living there and intended to return after work. Therefore, the evidence did not support a finding that the structure was a building and not a dwelling, and the jury could not have found Appellant guilty of burglary second degree rather than burglary first degree. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed

## **II. The Trial Judge did not abuse his discretion in sentencing Appellant.**

Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion in imposing a sentence of five years over the minimum limit because Appellant exercised his right to trial. This argument lacks merit because it's premised on the fact that the State made a recommendation for 15 years and after trial argued that Appellant should not receive the minimum sentence. The State did not make a 15 year

recommendation. It made a plea offer of 15 years that was no longer available once trial began. Further, the sentencing range for burglary first degree is no less than 15 years, but can carry up to a life sentence.

“At sentencing a judge has an obligation to consider information material to punishment.” Hayden v. State, 283 S.C. 121, 123, 322 S.E.2d 14, 15 (1984). “A trial judge generally has wide discretion in determining what sentence to impose. It is also true that before making that determination, a judge may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited either as to the kind of information he may consider or the source from which it may come.” State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976).

Appellant relies on two cases that are not applicable here. In Davis v. State, our Supreme Court held counsel was ineffective in failing to object when the trial judge indicated the reason he sentenced Davis more harshly than two similarly situated offenders who, unlike Davis, had pled guilty was because those offenders admitted their guilt. Davis v. State, 336 S.C. 329, 520 S.E.2d 801 (1999). When the defense counsel made the point that defendant had no prior drug convictions, the trial judge in Davis stated

“Yes ma’am, but he didn’t plead guilty. Those other two people they pled guilty. They admitted what they had done and to me that’s the first step towards rehabilitation is admitting that you did something wrong and you’re pleading guilty and when a fellow wants a trial which he’s entitled to as a matter of law- and that’s fine.”

Id. at 332, 802. In State v. Hazel, our Supreme Court held that the trial judge abused his discretion when the judge considered the fact that Hazel did not plead guilty in declining to grant Hazel’s request for sentencing under the Youthful Offender Act. State v. Hazel, 317 S.C. 368, 453 S.E.2d 879 (1995). In Hazel, the trial judge made the comment “Well, it’s one thing, if he’d pled guilty, I’d have considered that...” Id. at 369, 879. In the present case, Appellant seems to impute to the

trial judge's sentencing the comment made by the solicitor and there is no evidence of such. Unlike Davis and Hazel, the trial judge in this case did not make any comments regarding a guilty plea or exercising the right to trial.

Appellant also relies on a quote from State v. Follin<sup>1</sup> stating "We caution the Bench that a trial judge abuses his or her discretion in sentencing when the judge considers the fact that the defendant exercises the right to a jury trial." (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 14). In State v. Follin, Follin was convicted of aiding and abetting embezzlement, criminal conspiracy, and obtaining goods and services by false pretenses, in connection with the diversion of funds from a school district through a fake travel scheme. State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 573 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 2002). Most of the other individuals charged in the scheme pled guilty to the charges, however Follin proceeded to trial. Id. On appeal, Follin argued that the trial court erroneously considered her exercise of the right to a jury trial by sentencing her more severely than her co-defendants who pled guilty. Id. This court held that Follin was not in the same position as the others because they were not all charged with identical crimes and they faced different sentences. Id. at 256, 823. In regard to the comments that the trial judge made about the guilty pleas, the court stated

"It is regrettable that the trial judge in the present case commented on Adam's guilty plea and the consideration given to him for pleading guilty. However, the trial judge repeatedly noted that he was not considering Follin's exercise of her right to a jury trial in rendering her sentence. Further, Follin's charged and potential sentences were vastly different so as to render comparison to any other co-defendant difficult. Thus, unlike *Brouwer*<sup>2</sup>, the record before us clearly indicates that the differences in the charges Follin faced led to the disparity in her sentence, not her decision to proceed with a trial."

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 257-58, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824 (Ct. App. 2002)

<sup>2</sup> State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 2001).

Id. at 257, 823-824. Although the trial judge in Follin made comments regarding a guilty plea, it was evident that her decision to proceed to trial did not affect her sentence. Again, in the present case the trial judge did not make any comments about Appellant pleading guilty or exercising his right to go to trial.

Lastly, Appellant relies on State v. Brouwer in which the Court held that despite trial judge's comments that he would never punish someone for exercising his or her right to a jury trial, the majority opinion found the trial judge expressly violated Davis by improperly considering that fact during sentencing especially since the record failed to show another reason for the disparate sentence given between Brouwer and his co-defendant who was charged with the same offense. State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 2001). The present case is distinguished from Brouwer for two reasons. First and again, there were no comments by the trial judge regarding a jury trial or a guilty plea here. In addition is there is no evidence in the record that there was a co-defendant who was charged with the same crime and received a much shorter sentence because he pled guilty.

Further, burglary in the first degree is a felony punishable by life imprisonment with a minimum sentence of no less than fifteen years. S.C. Code Ann § 16-11-311(B) (Supp. 2019). Appellant was approximately 20 years old at the time of sentencing. Considering the young age of Appellant and the maximum sentence that could have been imposed on Appellant, five years over the minimum sentence was well within the sentencing range for his convictions and is evidence that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in sentencing Appellant. Therefore, Appellant's sentence should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.